
 
 
 

 

 
Democratic Services   

Riverside, Temple Street, Keynsham, Bristol BS31 1LA   

Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard   

Direct Line: 01225 394458  Date: 9
th
 May 2014 

Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk 

 
To: All Members of the Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development 
and Scrutiny Panel 

 
Councillor Marie Longstaff 
Councillor Lisa Brett 
Councillor David Martin 
Councillor Douglas Nicol 
Councillor Liz Richardson 
Councillor Roger Symonds 
Councillor Les Kew 
 

   Cabinet Member for Homes & Planning: Councillor Tim Ball 
   Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods: Councillor David Dixon 
   Cabinet Member for Transport: Councillor Caroline Roberts 
 
Chief Executive and other appropriate officers 

 

Press and Public  
 
Dear Member 
 
Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel: Monday, 
19th May, 2014  
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Planning, Transport and Environment Policy 
Development and Scrutiny Panel, to be held on Monday, 19th May, 2014 at 12.30 pm in the 
Council Chamber - Guildhall, Bath. 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
Mark Durnford 
for Chief Executive 
 

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative 
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author 
whose details are listed at the end of each report. 

 

This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper 

 



 

 

NOTES: 
 

1. Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the 
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact Mark Durnford who 
is available by telephoning Bath 01225 394458 or by calling at The Guildhall, Bath (during 
normal office hours). 
 

2. Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to 
make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the 
meeting has power to do.  They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a 
group.  Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting 
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday)  
 

The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions 
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in 
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must 
be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot 
be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further 
details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting Mark Durnford as above. 
 

3. Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for 
the next meeting.  In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting Mark Durnford as 
above. 
 

Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:- 
 

Public Access points - Riverside - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, Hollies - Midsomer 
Norton, and Bath Central, Keynsham and Midsomer Norton public libraries.   
 
For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research 
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms. 
 

4. Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the 
meeting. 
 

5. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM 
NUMBER. 
 

6. Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the 
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point.  The designated exits are 
sign-posted. 
 

Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people. 
 

 



 

 

Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel - Monday, 
19th May, 2014 

 
at 12.30 pm in the Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  

 

2. EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  

 The Chair will draw attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out 
under Note 6. 

 

 

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate: 

(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare. 

(b) The nature of their interest. 

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,   
(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests) 

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his 
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting. 

 

5. TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN  

 

6. ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, 
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF 
THIS MEETING  

 At the time of publication no notifications had been received. 

 

 



 

 

7. MINUTES - 4TH MARCH 2014 (Pages 7 - 14) 

 

8. CABINET MEMBER UPDATE  

 The Cabinet Member will update the Panel on any relevant issues. Panel members 
may ask questions. 

 

9. FIRST BUS PRESENTATION RE: FARES CONSULTATION  

 Paul Matthews, Managing Director of First, West of England will give a presentation to 
the Panel regarding the recent consultation on fares and other matters. 

 

10. GETTING AROUND BATH TRANSPORT STRATEGY (Pages 15 - 56) 

 A report on a new Transport Strategy for Bath is to be considered by Cabinet at its 
meeting on 14th May. The report and draft Strategy is attached and is expected to be 
agreed for consultation. The Panel are invited to consider the report to Cabinet and the 
draft Strategy.   

 

11. PANEL WORKPLAN (Pages 57 - 60) 

 This report presents the latest workplan for the Panel. 

 
The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Mark Durnford who can be contacted on  
01225 394458. 
 
 



 

 

51 

Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 4th March, 2014 

 

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 
 
PLANNING, TRANSPORT AND ENVIRONMENT POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
Tuesday, 4th March, 2014 

 
Present:- Councillors Marie Longstaff (Chair), Lisa Brett (Vice-Chair), David Martin, 
Douglas Nicol and Liz Richardson 
 
Also in attendance: Emma Bagley (Policy Development & Scrutiny Project Officer) and 
Liz Richardson (Policy Development & Scrutiny Lead Officer) 
 
Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods: Councillor David Dixon 
Cabinet Member for Transport: Councillor Caroline Roberts 
 

 
58 
  

WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  
 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. 
 
 

59 
  

EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  
 
The Chair drew attention to the emergency evacuation procedure. 

 
 

60 
  

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
There were none. 
 

61 
  

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were none. 
 

62 
  

TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN  
 
There was none. 
 

63 
  

ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, 
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF 
THIS MEETING  
 
The Panel were notified that a number of questions had been submitted by the Chew 
Valley Flood Forum. The Chair announced that a written response would be 
circulated to the Forum and members of the Panel within five working days of the 
meeting. A copy of the questions can be found on the Panel’s Minute Book and 
online as an appendix to these minutes. 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 5



 

 

52 

Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 4th March, 2014 

 

Mr David Redgewell had registered to address the Panel regarding Agenda Item 11 
(Network Rail Electrification Briefing) and would do so directly before that item was 
discussed. 
 

64 
  

MINUTES - 14TH JANUARY 2014  
 
The Panel confirmed the minutes of the previous meeting as a true record and they 
were duly signed by the Chair. 
 

65 
  

CABINET MEMBER UPDATE  
 
Councillor David Dixon, Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods addressed the Panel. 
 
Food Waste Recycling – In May the Council will commence this service in flats and 
schools. 
 
Solar Compactors – A further 30 of these receptacles will be distributed across Bath 
and Keynsham. He added that only 5% of what was inside the compactors now went 
to landfill. 
 
Allotments – He informed them that the overall waiting list for plots was down and 
that within the south of Bath there were some empty plots that were vacant. 
 
Bereavement Services – He explained that a figure of £100,000 had been allocated 
in the budget to provide a café at Haycombe Cemetery. He wished to now inform the 
Panel that due to the relocation of some members of staff, their former offices would 
now be used to provide this service at a much reduced cost. 
 
River Safety – He said that he had been in discussions with the Canals & River Trust 
regarding the ladders that are in place along the river. He explained that they are not 
official safety ladders and that he has asked the Trust to report back on how many 
need to be put in place and how much this would cost. He also said that discussions 
were on-going with regard to placing safety messages on life buoys along the river. 
 
Councillor Douglas Nicol suggested that some form of scramble netting might be a 
better idea to be put in place as finding a single ladder could prove to be quite 
difficult. 
 
The Chair asked where the allocated funds for the café at Haycombe Cemetery 
would now be spent. 
 
Councillor Dixon replied that any remaining funds would go back into the central 
budget. 
 
Councillor Lisa Brett asked if he’d received any negative feedback relating to the 
solar compactors from the public with regard to touching their handles. 
 
Councillor Dixon replied that he did not feel that the public saw this as a problem. He 
added that litter on the street had reduced greatly since their installation and 
informed the Panel that every time a compactor was emptied the handle was 
cleaned thoroughly. 

Page 6



 

 

53 

Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 4th March, 2014 

 

 
Councillor Liz Richardson asked if the Council had considered placing a message on 
the compactors to highlight the amount of recycling that they enable. 
 
Councillor Dixon replied that messages and branding would be placed on them in the 
future following good discussions with the supplier. 
 
Councillor Liz Richardson asked if they all needed to be that large. 
 
Councillor Dixon replied that the current model needed to be that size to house the 
solar panel required to compact the refuse inside. He added that a slim-line version 
has been discussed with the supplier. 
 
Councillor Douglas Nicol commented that he had noticed that a rather large amount 
of cigarette ends were being deposited in a particular area of the Bath Bus Station 
which he attributed to the bus drivers. 
 
Councillor Dixon replied that he would pursue that matter with the appropriate 
officers. 
 
Councillor Caroline Roberts, Cabinet Member for Transport addressed the Panel. 
 
She reported that the consultants had completed their part of the work relating to the 
Bath Transport Strategy and that this would now be shared with the Transport 
Commission and presented to the Local Development Framework (LDF) Steering 
Group at a meeting on March 27th and the Bath City Conference on April 30th. 
 
She added that she hoped the strategy would be in place in time to support the work 
of the Enterprise Area and the Placemaking Plan. 
 
She commented on how well the public event relating to Saltford Station had been 
attended. She acknowledged that the proposal does have its challenges, citing cost 
and access as just two examples. 
 
She stated that a new footway was to be put in place in Lower Borough Walls in 
association with the Business Improvement District (BID). 
 
She said that the Council was working in partnership with other local authorities on 
the issue of flooding. She explained that the Bath – Bristol cycle path had now been 
drained and that the A431 Kelston Road would be closed for the next six months due 
to its current instability.   
 
She added that the B3110 Midford Road was partially reopened during Saturday 
lunchtime (1.3.14) with one lane in operation and that a specialist was already 
designing the solution to stabilise the bank using soil nailing and mesh. 
 
Councillor Liz Richardson asked if there was a programme in place with regard to 
bridge inspection following the recent bad weather. 
 
Councillor Roberts replied that she would consult the Divisional Director for 
Environmental Services on the matter. 

Page 7



 

 

54 

Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 4th March, 2014 

 

Councillor Lisa Brett asked what the budget consequences were for the Council 
regarding the recent flood and road problems. 
 
Councillor Roberts replied that she believed the Council was doing the best it could 
and putting resources where they were needed most. She added that they would 
look to gather funds from the proposed £100m plan to combat flooding. 
 
Councillor Lisa Brett asked for a report on this matter to be brought back to a future 
meeting of the Panel. 
 
The Chair asked for the draft of the Bath Transport Strategy to be presented to Panel 
at its meeting on May 6th. 
 
Councillor Roberts replied that a copy of the draft strategy would be sent to all 
political groups prior to this time and that she would attend all group meetings if 
requested to. 
 
The Chair thanked the Cabinet Members for their updates and attendance.  
 
 

66 
  

POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS - URBAN 
GULLS  
 
The Chair introduced this item to the Panel and asked Councillor Dixon to go through 
the responses he had made to the recommendations. 
 
REC 1.3 – Introduce night-time refuse collections to limit the length of time food 
waste is left on the streets. 
 
Councillor Dixon said that the amount of disruption this would cause to residents, 
coupled with the steps required through gaining planning permission and a new 
license did not make sense to him. He added that there would be nowhere to deposit 
the waste even if it was collected. 
 
Councillor Douglas Nicol commented that he felt the Council should be allowed to 
change the rules on when it collects rubbish. 
 
The Chair suggested that this response be amended to defer and to ask for a report 
to be produced that states what steps would need to be taken to allow night time 
refuse collections. 
 
REC 1.4 – Pilot red plastic refuse sacks to ascertain whether this discourages gulls 
from attempting to get waste and, if successful, roll out to all appropriate city 
residents. 
 
Councillor Dixon commented that good progress was already being made with the 
gull proof sacks that had been issued to some residents. He also reminded the Panel 
of the intention to expand the food waste collections. 
 
Councillor Lisa Brett acknowledged the current work but felt the introduction of red 
sacks should be pursued. 

Page 8



 

 

55 

Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 4th March, 2014 

 

 
Councillor Dixon said that he would have a discussion with officers on the matter. 
 
Councillor Liz Richardson suggested that red sacks could be issued for the collection 
of commercial waste. 
 
Councillor Dixon replied that he would consider that suggestion. 
 
REC 5.1 – Promote and lead a joined up approach to tackling the gull population 
through development of a cohesive gull strategy 
 
Councillor Dixon commented that officers were already working with Property 
Services with regard to egg replacement and use of the bird free gel on Council 
buildings. He added that through some of the recent work gulls were being displaced 
to some extent with numbers increasing in the Windsor Bridge / Saltford area. He 
said that officers would take part in a door knocking exercise to emphasise the use 
of the food waste collections so that no food is placed in a regular black bag. 
 
The Chair suggested that this recommendation be re-written in such a way that it 
shows that this is a piece of work to be carried out by the Council and not Natural 
England. 
 
The Chair added that she thought the Council in some areas could supply the 
replacement eggs and ask communities to work together to put them in place. 
 
Councillor Dixon replied that a Gull Champion may be in place soon. 
 
The Policy Development & Scrutiny Lead Officer commented that the use of red 
sacks for normal refuse was also suggested in the recommendations. 
 
Councillor Dixon said he would be happy to investigate that as a piece of work. 
 
Councillor Lisa Brett asked for the rationale for recommendation 2.2 to be amended 
in two places to include the word ‘will’ as follows. 
 
Planning will include some advice and guidance on our web site to encourage 
developers to consider the campaign for gull-proofing of new buildings when 
developing their schemes. Officers will also refer to this advice when providing pre 
application advice. 
 
The Chair asked for Councillors Stevens and Ball to be made aware of this proposal 
and their response. She also summed up the item by saying that officers will be 
asked to produce a report for the Panel with regard to recommendation 1.3, that 
recommendation 1.4 would be amended to defer and that recommendation 5.1 
would be re-written to make it clear who was  responsible for that particular piece of 
work. 
 
She thanked Councillor Dixon and the officers concerned for their work on the 
matter. 
 
 

Page 9



 

 

56 

Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 4th March, 2014 

 

67 
  

POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS - ALCOHOL 
HARM REDUCTION STRATEGY  
 
The Policy Development & Scrutiny Project Officer introduced this item to the Panel. 
She explained that the Single Inquiry Day was the work of four Panels coming 
together in October 2013 to look at the matter.  
 
She added that the draft report and recommendations came to the Wellbeing Panel 
before being put to Cabinet Members for comment. This Panel now had the 
opportunity to comment on those recommendations that fall within its remit. 
 
REC 6.c. – Early Morning Restriction Orders in areas based on resident demand. 
 
Councillor Lisa Brett called for this recommendation to not be rejected as she didn’t 
feel that under the Social Responsibility Bill the Council would have a legal right to 
do so. She added that she did not believe one was necessary currently, but was 
worried about ruling it out completely. 
 
The Chair asked that Councillor Dixon be informed of the view expressed by 
Councillor Brett. 
 

68 
  

NETWORK RAIL ELECTRIFICATION BRIEFING  
 
The Chair introduced this item and explained that if Panel members had any 
questions they would be fed back to officers who would seek to get a response from 
Network Rail. 
 
Mr David Redgewell, South West Transport Network addressed the Panel. A copy of 
his statement can be found on the Panel’s Minute Book or as an appendix to these 
minutes online. 
 
He informed the Panel that the project was on course and on budget and that the 
line between Swindon and London would be tested next year. He said that works 
were underway on bridges in Marksbury and areas within Bath, Saltford, Keynsham 
and Bathampton would be affected. 
 
He called for the Council to act swiftly and positively while money was on the table 
for the project. 
 
He also wished to highlight the importance of working under the Equalities Act and 
called for CCTV to be installed in all stations. 
 
He said that the Council and the Police needed to be made aware of the potential 
increase of metal theft while the project was in progress due to the equipment and 
materials that would be involved. 
 
He strongly suggested that the Council has a designated Rail Officer. 
 
Councillor Douglas Nicol asked if the Central Devon line was to re-open. 
 

Page 10



 

 

57 

Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 4th March, 2014 

 

Mr Redgewell replied that it has been considered and that the Council should be 
involved in any future discussions. 
 
Councillor Lisa Brett commented that another objective for the Council should be that 
the project compliments its future strategies. 
 
The Chair thanked Mr Redgewell for his statement. 
 

69 
  

PANEL WORKPLAN  
 
The Chair introduced this item to the Panel. She proposed that the Bath Transport 
Strategy be added to the agenda for the meeting on 6th May. 
 
The Panel agreed with this proposal. 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 11.05 am  
 

Chair(person)  

 
Date Confirmed and Signed  

 
Prepared by Democratic Services 

 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING  
Planning, Transport and Environment Policy Development and 
Scrutiny Panel 

MEETING 19th May 2014 

 

  

TITLE: 
“Getting Around Bath – A New Transport Strategy for Bath” 
proposed consultation 
 

WARD: All Bath Wards 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

List of attachments to this report: 

Getting Around Bath Launch Document  – Mott MacDonald 

 
1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 A report on a new Transport Strategy for Bath is to be considered by 
Cabinet at its meeting on 14th May.  The report and draft Strategy is 
attached and is expected to be agreed for consultation.  The 
Strategy was launched at the Bath Conference on 30th April. 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 The Panel are invited to consider the report to Cabinet and the draft 
Strategy.   

Agenda Item 10

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



Printed on recycled paper 
e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\4\6\9\ai00011964\$emfzsp1d.docx 

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING  Cabinet 

MEETING 14th May 2014 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 

PLAN REFERENCE: 

E 2650 

TITLE: 
“Getting Around Bath – A New Transport Strategy for Bath” proposed 
consultation 
 

WARD: All Bath Wards 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

List of attachments to this report: 

Getting Around Bath Launch Document  – Mott MacDonald 

 
1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 A new Transport Strategy has been prepared entitled ‘Getting Around Bath’ and 
the draft is now ready for formal consultation with stakeholders.  The Strategy 
was launched at the Bath Conference on 30th April. 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That the Cabinet endorse the recommendations and the Getting Around Bath 
Launch Document as attached for consultation.  

3 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

3.1 The Getting Around Bath Transport Strategy will support the growth proposed in 
the Council’s agreed Draft Core Strategy and the emerging Master Plan work for 
the Bath City Riverside Enterprise Area.  Its implementation will draw on a 
number of sources of funding and decisions on individual projects will be taken 
through the Council’s annual budget process. In addition the development of 
individual sites within the Enterprise Area will be expected to contribute to the 
Strategy by being part of an integrated/co-ordinated development to reduce the 
impact of traffic on the city and where appropriate, making financial contributions 
to particular infrastructure needs. 

3.2 The Getting Around Bath Transport Strategy will be delivered through a wide 
range of projects which will be funded from future budgets principally, but not 
exclusively, the Integrated Transport Capital funds (received annually from 
Government) and bids for additional monies from the Single Growth Fund 
managed by the WoE LEP.  In addition there may be opportunities to bid from 
funding from other sources.  Other Council Strategies will also support the 
Transport Strategy particularly the Masterplan for the Enterprise Area and the 
Leisure and Health and Well Being Strategies.  Projects will have to be subject to 
the Council’s normal approval processes including its annual budget setting.  

Page 15



Printed on recycled paper 
e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\4\6\9\ai00011964\$emfzsp1d.docx 

3.3 The Cabinet approved a budget of £140,000 for the development of a new 
Transport Strategy for Bath which will fund the consultation recommended 
below. 

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL 

4.1 Equalities and Sustainability. 

5 THE REPORT 

5.1 The Cabinet at its meeting in April 2013 agreed that a new Transport Strategy 
should be prepared for the city of Bath in the light of the housing and economic 
growth proposed in the Council’s agreed Draft Core Strategy and the emerging 
Bath City Riverside Enterprise Area.  The strategy is needed to support this 
growth agenda but also to improve the environment within the city itself which is 
damaged by the impact of traffic and congestion.  The Strategy is designed to 
set an agreed long term vision for Transport which will have broad and enduring 
agreement.  The longevity of the Strategy is key to providing a consistent vision 
for the city and to accommodate the ambitious housing and jobs targets set out 
in the Core Strategy. 

5.2 The Strategy builds upon existing initiatives including: 

•  the Bath Transport Package such as the expanded Park and Ride Sites and 
Variable Message Signs; 

•   the Better Bus Area funding by introducing further bus priority measures; and  

•  Network Rail Electrification. 

5.3 Vision  Mott MacDonald, who were commissioned to prepare the Strategy, have 
developed the following vision for transport in Bath: 

“Bath will enhance its unique status by adopting measures that promote 
sustainable transport and reduce the intrusion of vehicles, particularly in the 
historic core.  This will enable more economic activity and growth, while 
enhancing its special character and environment and improving the quality 
of life for local people 

5.4 The recommendations of the Strategy are set out in the Appendix to this report.  
Its main proposals are for:  

(1) A walking/cycling strategy to make Bath the UK’s most walkable city 

(2) A parking strategy to support the economic growth but at the same time reducing the 
amount of off-street spaces within the city centre 

(3) Supporting greater use of buses and rail to reduce the number of cars entering the 
city. 

(4) Continue to expand our existing P&R sites, where we can, to reduce the number of 
parking spaces within the city. 

(5) Better management of HGVs within the city 

Page 16



Printed on recycled paper 
e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\4\6\9\ai00011964\$emfzsp1d.docx 

(6) Finding a new location for coaches to park once they have dropped off visitors in the 
city centre. 

5.5 The Getting Around Bath Transport Strategy is a high level review of existing 
transport policies and commitments in the light of the Council’s housing and 
economic growth agenda within the city.  It looks to develop a set of policies to 
support this growth.  The statutory considerations will be met when individual 
proposals are brought forward for decision. The consultation will enable us to 
obtain views on the main principles established within the Strategy prior to more 
detailed work being undertaken.   

5.6 As proposals emerge to deliver the outcomes identified by the Strategy they will 
be subject to a detailed appraisal on an individual basis as each is brought 
forward.   

5.7 Cabinet will see that the emphasis within the strategy is on improved walking 
and cycling which has highlighted a need to create a new forum for engagement 
with representatives of these groups and those representing disability groups to 
engage and seek their endorsement of the strategy.  It is therefore proposed that 
an Access Forum is created 

5.8 The Cabinet is asked to endorse the Strategy as attached in Appendix 2 as a 
basis for consultation.   

6 RATIONALE 

6.1 The draft strategy has emerged following extensive research and discussion with 
stakeholders last year. It has built on the representation made at the initial 
conference held in September 2012.  The proposals are based on current 
policies and the approach contained within the Joint Local Transport Plan.  The 
authority now wishes to undertake a final period of consultation to allow the 
strategy to inform and support both the Enterprise Area Masterplan and the Core 
Strategy. 

7 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

7.1 The draft strategy has emerged following extensive research and consultation 
which considered a wide range of options. 

8 CONSULTATION 

8.1 Strategic Management Team, Section 151 Officer, Cabinet member for 
Transport, Stakeholders and the Bath Transport Commission. 

9 RISK MANAGEMENT 

9.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management 
guidance. 

 

 

Page 17



Printed on recycled paper 
e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\4\6\9\ai00011964\$emfzsp1d.docx 

Contact person  Peter Dawson 01225-395181 

Background papers None 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appendix 1 – Recommendations of the Strategy 

Page 18



Printed on recycled paper 
e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\4\6\9\ai00011964\$emfzsp1d.docx 

 

Recommendation 1. That a strong emphasis should be given to reducing the impact 
of vehicles by supporting trips that are made by means other than car, particularly 
walking and cycling with more people using improved bus and rail networks. 

 

Recommendation 2.  That walking be given highest priority in the strategy. It creates 
a healthier population, an ambience to the historic core of the city and reduces the 
number of local car journeys. Bath should be an exemplar walking city demonstrating 
commitment to sustainable transport at a European level. 

 

Recommendation 3.  That consideration for the needs of people with mobility 
impairments is regarded as a core element of the strategy and the measures included 
within it. 

 
Recommendation 4. That cycling be promoted through better cycling routes with 

appropriate infrastructure where needed, building a cycling culture for people of all 
abilities. 

 

Recommendation 5.  Vehicle movement should be better managed, particularly in 
those parts of the city where there is least space available. 

 

Recommendation 6.  That the Enterprise Area is developed as part of an integrated 
approach with strong sustainable transport links to the city centre and rail stations. The 
development should focus initially on office and related development at the eastern end 
of the site and have limited car parking. Subsequent housing development should also 
focus on accessibility by non-car modes. 

 

Recommendation 7.  Car parking is a central feature of the strategy, enabling other 
components to take effect. The policy of reducing central area public parking and 
expanding long stay capacity at Park and Ride sites should continue, enabling greater 
emphasis to be given to walking, cycling and bus services in the historic core and on 
key corridors. 

 

Recommendation 8.  That further work is required to establish the need for 
increased  Park and Ride capacity as part of a wider parking strategy and to undertake 
a detailed assessment of sites to the East of the City 

 

Recommendation 9.  Improved bus services, with ticketing and other improvements 
and measures to improve reliability, will provide alternative travel options to car use, 
promoted through travel plans and comprehensive marketing. 

 

Recommendation 10.  Travel plans should be promoted for all main activities in the 
city to support a move from car use to other means of travel: 

• Travel plans will be built into the planning process; 

• Existing plans will be refreshed for workplaces and education establishments; 

• Travel need for healthcare, particularly the Royal United Hospital will be considered; 

• Access to rail stations (currently around 100 trains per day serving Oldfield Park 
and 340 serving Bath Spa) will be reviewed; and 

• Travel plans will be developed working with transport providers: train and bus 
operators, cycle shops, etc. 

 

Recommendation 11.  Maintain the taxi network as part of the wider range of 
transport options. 

 

Page 19



Printed on recycled paper 
e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\4\6\9\ai00011964\$emfzsp1d.docx 

Recommendation 12.  The growth in rail capacity and the range of services available 
as part of the Great Western Main Line electrification scheme and the development of 
MetroWest will support significantly more rail journeys. Access to local stations will 
need to be improved and new stations may be appropriate. Better services should be 
promoted to link Bath with the west Wiltshire towns. 

 

Recommendation 13.  That coaches continue to be promoted as an important means 
of bringing visitors to the city. A replacement coach park should be provided at either 
Weston Island or Odd Down Park and Ride site. The city centre set down/pick up point 
should be Terrace Walk (with some adjustments). 

 

Recommendation 14.  That freight movements be considered more fully, working with 
businesses and operators, particularly to promote consolidation of deliveries and to 
better manage loading and unloading arrangements. 

 

Page 20



 

Getting Around Bath 

A Transport Strategy for Bath 

Launch Document  

April 2014 

Bath and North East Somerset Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 21



Page 22



 

 

329578 ITD ITQ 1 A 

P:\Southampton\ITW\Projects\329578 Bath Transport 
Strategy\Report\Vision and Strategy RevD Apr14.doc 

27 September 2013 

 

 

 

Getting Around Bath 

A Transport Strategy for Bath  

Launch Document 

April 2014 

Bath and North East Somerset Council 

 

Mott MacDonald, Stoneham Place, Stoneham Lane, Southampton, SO50 9NW, United Kingdom  

t +44 (0)23 8062 8800 f +44 (0)23 8062 8801,   W www.mottmac.com 

Riverside, Temple Street, Keynsham BS31 1LA 

Page 23



Page 24



 

 

 

Getting Around Bath 
 

Mott MacDonald, Stoneham Place, Stoneham Lane, Southampton, SO50 9NW, United Kingdom  

t +44 (0)23 8062 8800 f +44 (0)23 8062 8801,   W www.mottmac.com 

Page 25



Page 26



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 
 

 

Getting Around Bath 
 

Chapter Title Page 

 Forward 

1. Vision 1 

1.1 Context ___________________________________________________________________________ 1 

1.2 A Proposed Vision __________________________________________________________________ 1 

1.3 Objectives _________________________________________________________________________ 2 

1.4 Coverage _________________________________________________________________________ 2 

2. Adopting a Structured Approach 3 

2.1 Key Issues ________________________________________________________________________ 3 

2.1.1 Reducing the Impact of Vehicles ________________________________________________________ 3 

2.1.2 Walking – a Walking-Friendly City ______________________________________________________ 6 

2.1.3 Access for People with Mobility Impairments ______________________________________________ 9 

2.1.4 Cycling – Building on Potential _________________________________________________________ 9 

2.1.5 Traffic Management – Reducing the Intrusion of Vehicles ___________________________________ 11 

2.1.6 Development Requirements – Promoting Sustainable Development ___________________________ 12 

2.1.7 Car Parking – Managing Supply _______________________________________________________ 14 

2.1.8 Park and Ride – Providing Long Stay Parking Capacity _____________________________________ 16 

2.1.9 Bus Services – Making Better Use of Services ____________________________________________ 17 

2.1.10 Travel Plans ______________________________________________________________________ 18 

2.1.11 Taxis ____________________________________________________________________________ 19 

2.1.12 Rail – New Services and Opportunities __________________________________________________ 19 

2.1.13 Coaches – Supporting the Economy ____________________________________________________ 20 

2.1.14 Freight Movements – Better Management _______________________________________________ 21 

3. Delivering the Strategy 23 

3.1 Community Engagement_____________________________________________________________ 23 

3.2 Priorities and Programme ____________________________________________________________ 23 

3.3 Monitoring and Key Performance Indicators ______________________________________________ 23 

3.4 Outcomes ________________________________________________________________________ 24 

3.5 Targets __________________________________________________________________________ 25 

3.6 Next Steps _______________________________________________________________________ 25 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Content 

Page 27



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 
 

 

Getting Around Bath 
 

Foreword 

 
Getting about is important to all of us.  This document launches ‘Getting Around Bath’, which 
sets out some options for consideration in the development of a Transport Strategy for the 
city.  It is proposed that the Strategy will be adopted by the Council later this year.  
 
It is a high level review of existing transport policies and commitments in the light of the 
Council’s commitment to housing and economic growth within the city.  It looks to develop a 
set of policies to support this growth.   

 
‘Getting Around Bath’ is designed to set out an agreed long term vision for transport which 
needs broad and enduring agreement.  It will cover the period up to 2029 to reflect the period 
for the Council’s agreed Draft Core Strategy.  It will support the preparation of the Council’s 
Placemaking Plan and the Masterplan for the Bath City Riverside Enterprise Area.  
 
The aim of the Strategy is to support this growth agenda and also improve the environment 
within the city itself, both of which can be damaged by the impact of traffic and congestion.  
The longevity of the Strategy is key to providing a consistent vision for the city and to 
accommodate the ambitious housing and employment aspirations. 

 
The Strategy will build upon existing initiatives, including those delivered through the Bath 
Transport Package (such as the expanded Park and Ride Sites and Variable Message 
Signs), the EU funded Civitas Renaissance programme (such as the Urban Freight 
Consolidation Project and Better Bus Area funding), whilst also recognising the importance of 
Network Rail’s electrification programme for the Great Western Main Line. 
 
The planned consultation will seek to gain broad agreement to the following vision: 

“Bath will enhance its unique status by adopting measures that promote 
sustainable transport and reduce the intrusion of vehicles, particularly in the 
historic core.  This will enable more economic activity and growth, while 
enhancing its special character and environment and improving the quality of 
life for local people”. 

The strategy is also driven by the Public Service Board vision which is: 
 

“Bath and North East Somerset will be internationally renowned as a 
beautifully inventive and entrepreneurial 21st Century place with a strong 
social purpose and a spirit of wellbeing, where everyone is invited to think big 
– a ‘connected’ area ready to create an extraordinary legacy for future 
generations”. 

The reduction of the impact of vehicles is vital in this unique UNESCO World Heritage city 
and will require a combination of measures.  These can be summarised as follows: 

· A walking/cycling strategy to make Bath the UK’s most walkable city; 

· Improved accessibility for people with mobility impairments; 

Page 28



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 
 

 

Getting Around Bath 
 

· A parking strategy to support the economic growth but at the same time reducing 
the amount of off-street spaces within the city centre; 

· Supporting greater use of public transport to reduce the number of cars entering the 
city; 

· Continue to expand our existing Park & Ride sites where we can to help reduce the 
demand for parking spaces within the city; 

· Better management of Heavy Goods Vehicles within the city; 

· Finding a new location for coaches to park once they have dropped visitors off in 
the city centre. 

The Council will hold a number of events following Cabinet’s consideration to engage with 
communities and stakeholders.  All views will be important in helping the Council develop 
this key Strategy for the City of Bath. 

 

Page 29



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

1 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

1.1 Context 

Transport is fundamental to the successful economy and wellbeing of the city, its residents and visitors.  It 

also contributes to the unique environment of the city but the volume and impacts of vehicles are 

undermining the fabric of buildings and air quality.  Consequently, the historic core of Bath and key arterial 

routes are suffering from the intrusion of cars and the quality of life throughout the city is being adversely 

affected. 

The strategy is needed to provide the framework within which individual proposals can be considered and 

assessed against the objectives.  A number of initiatives have been delivered including three Park and Ride 

sites, an ongoing parking strategy, Local Sustainable Transport Fund measures and using Better Bus Area 

funding.  The strategy will also support delivery of the Core Strategy, enabling growth.  It will also build on 

the policies and measures included in successive Joint Local Transport Plans. 

This report outlines the proposed strategy and the evidence that lies behind the proposals is included in a 

separate report. 

 

1.2 A Proposed Vision 

There are some strong issues that are shared by the key stakeholders in that they all recognize the 

importance of transport to the local economy and the wellbeing of the city, its residents and visitors.  It is 

also evident that inappropriate traffic levels are eroding historic buildings and adversely affecting air quality 

and consequently the quality of life. 

In developing a vision, it is important to set it in the context of progress made to date through various 

initiatives promoted through successive Joint Local Transport Plans and other funding sources.  In addition, 

the emerging Core Strategy reflects the changes in the planning system manifest through the National 

Planning Policy Framework that supports the principles of sustainable development. 

A strategy needs a vision, in effect a statement that outlines the main aims.  In this context, the proposed 

transport vision reflects the wider vision for a healthy, prosperous and unique city: 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

1. Vision 

Bath will enhance its unique status by adopting measures that promote sustainable 

transport and reduce the intrusion of vehicles, particularly in the historic core. 

This will enable more economic activity and growth, while enhancing its special character 

and environment and improving the quality of life for local people. 

 

Page 30



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

2 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

The strategy is also driven by the Public Service Board vision which is: 

Bath and North East Somerset will be internationally renowned as a beautifully inventive 

and entrepreneurial 21
st
 century place with a strong social purpose and a spirit of 

wellbeing, where everyone is invited to think big – a ‘connected’ area ready to create an 

extraordinary legacy for future generations. 

1.3 Objectives 

There is considerable common ground evident from the documentation available and discussion 

undertaken.  This provides a good starting point for the strategy.  There appears to be a shared view on the 

following which provide the objectives: 

 

¡ Supporting and enabling economic growth, competitiveness and jobs; 

¡ Promoting sustainable mobility; 

¡ Widening travel choice; 

¡ Widening access to opportunities: jobs/learning/training; 

¡ Improving air quality & health, reducing vehicle carbon emissions; 

¡ Safeguarding and enhancing the unique historic environment and World Heritage Site status; and 

¡ Improving the quality of life in the city. 

 

1.4 Coverage 

The strategy covers the city of Bath and its immediate environs (but not the whole of the Bath and North 

East Somerset administrative area).  For the purposes of this strategy, the central part of the city is 

regarded as being the area from The Circus (north) to the river (south) and from Charlotte Street (west) to 

London Street (east). 

 

Page 31



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

3 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

2.1 Key Issues 

A number of key issues have been identified; these have complex inter-relationships but some common 

strands have been used as the basis for a transport strategy that will enhance the city and maintaining its 

attractiveness whilst supporting economic growth.  Each of the key strands is set out below together with 

an indication of the data sources.  A large amount of data has been compiled as part of the process of 

developing the strategy and this has been used as supporting evidence. 

Bath has all the pre-conditions to be an exemplar sustainable transport city with strong public transport, a 

cycling culture (taking into account the topographical constraints) and a high proportion of walking trips.  

This, coupled with the unique built environment and development site potential, presents significant 

opportunities to transform the city from one where sustainable transport takes a dominant role and where 

traffic movement is managed more effectively.  This does not mean that the strategy is anti-car but instead 

rebalances transport options against the economic and environmental needs of the city.  Car use will 

continue to be important and in some cases the only option but containing the number of journeys made by 

car will benefit everyone in terms of health, environment and local economic activity.  A range of measures 

are proposed which, in combination, will address the objectives of the strategy. 

The strategy needs to be durable in that delivering measures will be longer than any single administration 

and hence it should be supported by all political interests.  It is important as it enables the Core Strategy to 

be delivered and is vital for the Enterprise Area which is likely to take many years to complete. 

 

2.1.1 Reducing the Impact of Vehicles 

Bath has a unique city centre environment of World Heritage status.  This attracts substantial numbers of 

visitors but has many constraints.  These constraints are accentuated by too many cars in the central area.  

A key strand of the strategy is to reduce the impact of vehicle movements through a combination of 

measures including better traffic management, comprehensive parking controls, expansion of park and ride 

and enabling people to walk, cycle and use trains and buses.  All these contribute to reducing in car 

journeys and addressing the problems manifest in the Air Quality Management Area. 

Parking in particular is a key issue and progressive reductions in the supply of public on- and off-street 

parking to support a shift to the provision of long stay parking at Park and Ride sites have been 

implemented in recent years.  This policy needs to be strengthened and extended to create more long stay 

capacity at the periphery, in tandem with further constraints on parking in the central area.  Some 

reductions in capacity will occur as a result of flood alleviation but parking policy is an essential element of 

delivering the Enterprise Area.  The consequences are better air quality, less vehicle intrusion (noise and 

street impacts), maintaining the built environment, better visitor experiences, accessibility for people with 

mobility impairments and a healthy economy. 

 

 

 

2. Adopting a Structured Approach 

Page 32



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

4 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

A good starting point is the mode share – how many people move by which means.  Some data is available 

on this from Census journey to work figures and local monitoring as shown in Figure 2.1. 

Figure 2.1: Mode Share 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Census data. 

The high proportion of walking shown by mode share surveys (around 30%) indicates that this is a primary 

means of travel in the city, indicating that there is potential to expand and improve walking opportunities 

and hence substituting for some car journeys. (Determining mode share from Census data is possible for 

2001 but full data sets for 2011 have yet to be published. In 2011, walking accounted for 35.1% of all 

journeys to work made by people living and working in Bath.) 

Traffic levels have been declining consistently over a number of years, evidenced by the traffic count data 

collected at various locations around the city (see Figure 2.2).  While some of this may be attributable to 

the wider economic situation, it demonstrates that traffic reductions occur and provide the opportunity to 

accommodate additional traffic from development sites if required. Some count data is available to show 

the composition of traffic, indicating that much of it is cars and that the proportion of heavy vehicles is 

comparatively low. 

 
0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Car driver

Car passenger

Walk

Bus/coach

Cycle

Train

Motorcycle

Other

Live Outside Bath/Work in Bath 2001

Live in Bath/Work Outside Bath 2001

Live in Bath/Work in Bath 2001

Live in Bath - Method of Travel 2011

Page 33



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

5 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

Some data on traffic distribution is also available from recent counts, indicating that around 12% of 

movements in the city centre are through trips i.e. do not have an origin or destination in the centre.  

Figure 2.2: Inner Cordon Daily Traffic Flows 2000 to 2011 

Source: B&NES count data. 

Minimising the volume of vehicle movements entering the city centre will contribute to improved air quality 

(and therefore health) as well as reducing congestion.  It will also address the intrusion of traffic in the 

historic setting – noise, visual intrusion and severance (particularly affecting people with mobility 

impairments) – all of which contribute to the visitor experience and economic vitality. 

Air quality is important for health with particular impacts on respiration-related illnesses.  Much of this can 

be attributed to vehicle emissions but also emissions from rail rolling stock and other sources.  A number of 

locations in the city currently exceed legal nitrogen dioxide levels as shown in Figure 2.3.  Particulates and 

other pollutants also affect the Bath stone used for much of the city’s built environment. 

An Air Quality Management Area has been declared for the city centre and its approaches, reflecting the 

effect that road traffic has on the built and natural environment and the health of people in the city.  Slow 

moving traffic is a particular concern while reducing the levels of traffic would help improve the problem.  

Air quality data is collected continuously but relating changes to traffic conditions is difficult.  However, 

monitoring is important in relation to the AQMA, even if the designation is removed through changes in the 

legislative requirements, to understand how addressing transport issues can help improve community 

health and help preserve the fabric of the city. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

th
o

u
sa

n
d

s

cycles

buses, coaches, goods vehicles

car, motorcycle, taxi

Page 34



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

6 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

Figure 2.3: Nitrogen Dioxide Levels 1995 to 2012 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: B&NES data. 

Recommendation: That a strong emphasis should be given to reducing the impact of vehicles by 

supporting trips that are made by means other than car, particularly walking and cycling with more 

people using improved bus and rail networks. 

 

2.1.2 Walking – a Walking-Friendly City 

Walking is central to the strategy.  Many people choose to walk because it is relatively direct and quick and 

the city’s layout is conducive to good walking experiences.  However, the infrastructure needs to be 

improved – better footways, crossings, public spaces and higher priority than at present.  The scope for 

daytime pedestrian priority can be considered, enabling vehicle access at other times. 

Walking journeys are reliable in that they have predictable journey times, promote healthier living, reduce 

traffic levels (many car journeys are short enough for walking to substitute) and promote social interaction 

and vibrant communities. 

Adopting a strategy based around walking is entirely appropriate for a constrained, historic city.  Promoting 

Bath as a highly walkable city is a radical move, delivering walking as a priority with appropriate levels of 

investment in infrastructure to improve the walking experience.  This can include better street lighting, 

surfacing, road crossings, seating, signing, etc.  Enabling more people to walk more often also involves an 

element of information to identify suitable and safe routes and to understand the options available.  The 

health benefits are likely to be considerable both directly to individuals and also collectively, contributing to 

fewer car journeys and better air quality. 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

1
9
9

5

1
9
9

6

1
9
9

7

1
9
9
8

1
9
9
9

2
0
0

0

2
0
0

1

2
0
0

2

2
0
0

3

2
0
0

4

2
0
0

5

2
0
0

6

2
0
0

7

2
0
0

8

2
0
0

9

2
0
1

0

2
0
1

1

2
0
1

2

N
O

2
 c

o
n

c
e

n
tr

a
ti
o

n
 (

µ
g

/m
3

)

Wells Road

Lower Bristol Rd

Upper Bristol Rd

London Road

High Street

George St

Broad St

legal limit

Page 35



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

7 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

The Public Realm and Movement Strategy provided a helpful framework for improving the walking 

experience in the city centre and highlighting the importance of streets and spaces.  These principles could 

be extended to the whole city, focusing on core walking routes and overcoming conflicts with vehicle 

movements, identifying pleasant and safe routes. 

Accessibility for people with mobility impairments (walking difficulties, visual and hearing impediments) 

should feature when walking routes are considered.  Improvements should include level surfacing, dropped 

kerbs at junctions, careful consideration of street furniture, effective lighting and clear crossing 

arrangements. 

Shared use of space by walking and cycling should be encouraged.  This is necessary in some locations 

due to the limited space available but creates a good ambiance with minimal signing and road markings.  

There is no evidence to suggest that sharing space generates accidents and cycle speeds will be low 

where pedestrian levels are high.  Best practice from Europe supports shared use applications. 

Walking routes are often rendered difficult by one or more specific locations, such as a road crossing, unlit 

route or poor surfacing.  Many people do not realise that journey times can be short and routes are 

attractive when compared with other options. Evidence has been obtained from the Public Realm and 

Movement Strategy, discussions with stakeholders and on-street observations. 

An improved walking network will decrease the number of pedestrian casualties recorded and support a 

shift towards walking from motorised modes.  A plan of the key pedestrian routes in the city centre is shown 

below (Figure 2.4), highlighting those where improvements should be seen as a priority. 

 

 

Page 36



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

8 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

Figure 2.4: Plan of Key Walking Routes 

 

To achieve a walking-friendly city, the strategy will: 

 

¡ Enable walking to the centre and within the city; 

¡ Define the walking network – utility and leisure routes 

- Effective maintenance; 

- New infrastructure: crossings, shared space, lighting; 

- Contribute to health and accessibility; 

¡ Deliver the Public Realm and Movement Strategy; 

¡ Extend the principles of the Public Realm and Movement Strategy to core routes throughout the city; 

and 

¡ Engender a cultural shift to walk as the first choice for many journeys. 

 

Recommendation: That walking be given highest priority in the strategy.  It creates a healthier 

population, an ambience to the historic core of the city and reduces the number of local car 

journeys.  Bath should be an exemplar walking city demonstrating commitment to sustainable 

transport at a European level. 

Key:

proposed prioritised improvement

existing pedestrianisation

key routes

Page 37



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

9 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

2.1.3 Access for People with Mobility Impairments 

A significant proportion of people have some form of mobility impairment, either some form of infirmity, 

visual or hearing problems and others, such as those with shopping or pre-school children, may encounter 

difficulties walking around the city or using other transport such as buses. Improved engagement with 

organisations representing these groups will be important. 

Potential measures will include: 

 

¡ Undertaking an access audit on key walking routes; 

¡ Reducing street clutter. 

 

Recommendation: That consideration for the needs of people with mobility impairments is 

regarded as a core element of the strategy and the measures included within it. 

2.1.4 Cycling – Building on Potential 

Cycling is having a huge resurgence across the country.  There is a network of routes around the city which 

need to be coordinated to form a coherent network, ironing out conflicts with vehicular traffic and attracting 

new cyclists.  The topography of parts of the city is a deterrent to some would-be cyclists but many 

corridors are more conducive to regular cycling.  It is also a healthy means of travel which also contributes 

to improved air quality if cycling can substitute for car journeys.  A riverside route through the Enterprise 

Area would be very suitable for cycling. 

Figure 2.5 below shows cycle route improvements that should be considered as priorities, to complement 

the existing routes and those being implemented, to create a basic network of high quality routes. 

Page 38



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

10 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

Figure 2.5: Proposed Cycle Routes 

 

Existing off-road

Being Implemented

Proposed Priority Scheme

Missing Links

 
 

Measures to increase the number of cycling trips and to improve quality of the cycling experience include 

schemes at specific junctions, designated routes, direction signing, secure cycle parking and training for 

new or returning cyclists.  In addition, the provision of shower facilities at workplaces as travel plan 

measures will support regular cyclists.  The use of cycles to access other modes is becoming increasingly 

important.  Extensive cycle parking is available at Bath Spa station but is less evident at other stations and 

security is a key issue.  Enabling cyclists to use secure parking at bus stops should also be considered; this 

would extend the journey possibilities for many who do not wish to cycle longer distances or for whom it is 

impractical to do so. 

The number of cyclists is increasing (shown by mode share surveys) but journeys can be very individual.  

Improvements need to involve route audits where appropriate and local knowledge from users, building on 

the dialogue that is taking place and developing an extensive network of routes.  Further mode share 

surveys, user satisfaction surveys and casualty records will indicate the effectiveness of the measures 

proposed. 

Specific measures will include: 

 

¡ Linking together existing and planned cycle schemes to give a basic network of high quality routes in 

the short term; 

¡ Develop the network in the medium to long term, taking into account the recent review undertaken by 

Sustrans; 

Page 39



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

11 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

¡ Overcoming problem locations e.g. junctions where cyclists are vulnerable; 

¡ Reducing traffic levels on certain routes to create an environment that is conducive to cycling; 

¡ Provide additional secure cycle parking at workplaces, leisure facilities, rail stations, city centre 

locations; 

¡ Workplace shower facilities; and 

¡ An inclusive training programme. 

Recommendation: That cycling be promoted through better cycling routes with appropriate 

infrastructure where needed, building a cycling culture for people of all abilities. 

2.1.5 Traffic Management – Reducing the Intrusion of Vehicles 

Traffic management does not necessarily imply more engineering.  Making traffic flow more easily may 

involve new approaches with fewer junction controls and a subtle approach that suits the settings.  

However, managing traffic is also linked with where people want to go for which parking is a key 

determinant.  Hence rearranging the supply of parking will influence the decision to drive.  Additional 

parking in the core of the city is not really an option because space is scarce and more traffic would be 

undesirable.  Instead, parking within walking distance of all the main destinations should be available. The 

Council have shown that a comprehensive approach to parking is effective and forms a sound approach for 

future measures.  

Measures to restrict traffic, such as that using Pulteney Bridge, can be highly effective.  Such measures 

need to be considered in the wider context to understand the implications for other parts of the city.  

Accordingly, a Traffic Management Plan for the city centre is proposed that will provide the context for 

management measures and to co-ordinate individual initiatives.  The Plan will set out co-ordinated 

measures including traffic signal control, parking management through signing and the parking policy of 

reducing the supply of central area spaces, accommodating walking and cycling more conspicuously and 

other measures to improve traffic flow while deterring vehicle movements for which an alternative is 

available. 

Through traffic is perceived to be a problem.  This includes traffic with both an origin and destination 

outside the city which has no purpose in Bath and should use other routes.  There is also an element of 

internal through traffic i.e. vehicle movements that start on one side of the city and finish on another and so 

use the city centre, estimated to account for 12% of all city centre traffic.  These journeys contribute to 

congestion and some could be made by other means. 

For streets to function effectively, enforcement of regulations needs to be effective.  This includes loading 

and parking controls and ensuring that Blue Badge holders can access designated parking spaces. 

Page 40



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

12 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

Technology can be deployed to direct motorists to parking spaces (extending the existing variable message 

signing), to manage traffic signals in a coordinated way and to inform transport users about current 

conditions on trains, buses and roads.  Managing information can be a useful tool, particularly when there 

are events such as sports fixtures. 

Car sharing can be initiated through workplace travel plans.  This reduces the number of vehicle 

movements, reduces pressures on parking and reduces travel costs for individuals. 

Traffic delays occur where demand exceeds the road space available and is often associated with 

motorists seeking parking spaces, an obstruction or similar incidents.  Some detailed junction analyses 

have been undertaken which show the delays incurred to traffic and other road users, particularly 

pedestrians.  Improving options to avoid driving into the central area will help to reduce traffic levels.  

In the longer term additional road links could be considered to overcome the limited options presented by 

the current road network.  .  A comprehensive approach to traffic management will help make journeys 

more reliable, evidenced through traffic speed data and user satisfaction surveys. 

Measures will include: 

 

¡ Development of a city centre traffic management plan; 

¡ Setting principles 

- Removing gyratories ; 

- Removing traffic signals where possible; 

- Creating shared spaces ; 

¡ Addressing strategic and local ‘through traffic’ (around 12% of volume) especially heavy vehicle 

enforcement; and 

¡ Traffic management related to development sites e.g. Enterprise Area. 

Recommendation: Vehicle movement should be better managed, particularly in those parts of the 

city where there is least space available. 

 

2.1.6 Development Requirements – Promoting Sustainable Development 

A number of development options are being presented.  The emerging Core Strategy is identifying the 

locations where development can take place, refining this through the Placemaking Plan to specific sites.  

These can be designed to add to the economic success of the city and reflect its heritage.  Inevitably, there 

are concerns that new development will generate more traffic but this is not necessarily the case; other 

means of travel are available, travel demand can change and some journeys will involve relocation.  New 

activities can be the stimulus for better transport, particularly if they make buses more viable and add to the 

walking and cycling options. 

The Enterprise Area (EA) is a major opportunity to develop sustainable transport by design, linked to the 

city by walking routes, cycling routes and bus links and containing the demand for travel by car.  This is 

likely to focus on walking as the prime means of access to employment at the city centre parts of the area, 

supported by new river bridges.  Bus access will also be needed along the east-west axis (possibly linking 

to parking at the periphery) and a network of cycle routes will help people to make journeys.  Containment 

within the site or within the city, enabling people to live and work within one community, will reduce the 

Page 41



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

13 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

demand for longer distance travel, particularly by car, although this will depend on the type of jobs 

available.  Transport is a fundamental consideration in the delivery of the Economic Strategy.  Without 

coherent and attractive transport links, Bath will not be an attractive location for development.  Striking a 

balance between car use and other access will influence the design of developments and there is a strong 

case for proposing high quality mixed development with a strong emphasis on access by walking, rail, bus 

and cycling.  This would be appropriate in the Bath context and offer office, retail and residential 

accommodation that is different in quality and experience from locations elsewhere. 

The process of masterplanning for the EA is at its early stages but discussions have taken place regarding 

its likely form and content. Evidence from previous Transport Assessments is helpful and further technical 

analysis will help to define the development in terms of the number of trips that it is expected to generate, 

their distribution and the modes of transport that could be expected to provide access.  Evidence will be 

obtained from traffic flows, surveys of the number of pedestrians, cyclists and bus users and the extent to 

which travel plans have been effective.  The planned EA includes a variety of land uses including office, 

retail and residential.  It is expected that the office component will be at the eastern end of the site nearest 

the city centre, enabling many journeys to be made by walking or cycling to the centre and Bath Spa rail 

station, adding to the walking network and becoming part of an extended central area. 

As other development takes place along the river, notably housing, the creation of riverside walking and 

cycling opportunities and new crossings of the river will create new connectivity.  A new bus service will 

connect those parts of the EA furthest from the centre.  Developing the office and employment activities 

initially would help establish the area as part of the city centre and hence its timing is closely related to that 

of Park and Ride expansion.  Determining the wider parking strategy with the creation of additional Park 

and Ride spaces is an essential requirement for the EA.  Developing housing progressively within the EA 

will allow travel patterns to develop incrementally. 

 

Specific measures will include: 

 

¡ Ensuring that development sites have sustainable transport options through design, planning conditions 

such as travel plans and limited car parking; 

¡ Designing for sustainable transport in the Enterprise Area: strong and attractive walking and cycle 

routes to the city centre and Bath Spa and Oldfield Park stations, secure cycle parking, good links to 

bus services; 

¡ Integrating new sites within the city by incorporating routes that link to established routes and 

destinations; 

Page 42



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

14 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

¡ Proportionate and complementary parking provision in new developments: link to off-site P&R capacity; 

and 

¡ Developing appropriate parking standards. 

Recommendation: That the Enterprise Area is developed as part of an integrated approach with 

strong sustainable transport links to the city centre and rail stations.  The development should 

focus initially on office and related development at the eastern end of the site and have limited car 

parking.  Subsequent housing development should also focus on accessibility by non-car modes. 

 

2.1.7 Car Parking – Managing Supply 

Parking is a key determinant of journeys and can be managed accordingly.  It is proposed to continue the 

progress made in Bath to relocate long stay parking at Park and Ride sites, thus reducing vehicle 

movements into the constrained city centre.  This underlies the efforts to reduce the impact of traffic and, 

while Park and Ride alone will not provide the solution, it is a valuable component of the wider strategy.  It 

enables long stay spaces to be relocated at the periphery which creates options for the central area – 

converting long stay to short stay spaces or reducing capacity in favour of other land uses while reducing 

traffic levels.  This works in favour of economic activity and is a more efficient use of scarce space in the 

centre, presenting opportunities to improve the walking environment.  The overall supply of parking can be 

maintained with increases in Park and Ride capacity offsetting reductions elsewhere. 

A large number of parking spaces have been taken away or relocated from the city centre over the years, 

with complementary expansion of the Park & Ride sites. This includes over 3,000 long stay on-street 

spaces as part of the residents parking schemes introduced in 2000/2001 and the 320 spaces at Royal 

Victoria Park no longer being available for free all-day parking (introduced in 2013). 

This has not been detrimental to the local economy and has helped to reduce traffic levels and shows that 

parking resources can be managed more effectively.  It will be desirable to withdraw more off-street spaces 

over time in tandem with expansion of the Park and Ride offer.  The closure of Avon Street car park will 

mean that over 600 spaces are displaced, whilst the reduction in the city centre could be higher if other car 

park sites are developed as part of the Enterprise Area. 

The increase in parking demand in the future has been estimated based on the predicted number of 

additional jobs and houses that will created in the city.  The calculation of demand is outlined in Table 2.1 

which is based on estimating the increase in car commuting trips into the centre. 

 

 

 

Page 43



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

15 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

Table 2.1: Estimated Increase in Commuter Parking Demand 

 Bath Residents External trips Total 

 Centre Outer Area   

New housing 3,000 4,000  7,000 

Employees per dwelling 0.9 1.03   

Residents who work in centre 69% 32%   

New employees in centre 1,863 1,318 3,819 7,000 

Car mode share to centre 12.4% 24.6% 63.8%  

New car trips to centre 231 324 2,436 2,992 

Travel to work on average day 80% 80% 80%  

Parking demand 185 259 1,949 2,393 

Allowance has also been made for an increase in non-commuting parking demand in the future (retail, 

tourist and visitor trips).  Car park surveys in 2009 showed that around 13% of vehicles using city centre 

car parks and 43% using Park and Ride were commuters.  By applying these figures to the total 

transactions for each type of car park, an estimation of the number of spaces occupied by commuters was 

made as shown in Table 2.2 (based on interview surveys and assuming that all commuters would be 

parked at the time of peak occupancy). 

Table 2.2: Existing Peak Weekday Occupancy (November 2011) 

Location Total Users Spaces used by 
Commuters 

Spaces used by 
Non-Commuters 

Total  

Spaces used 

City Centre 3,380 439 1,346 1,785 

Park & Ride 2,496 1,073 643 1,716 

Total 5,876 1,513 1,988 3,501 

If a 10% increase in non-commuting demand is allowed for, this results in the demand for an additional 199 

spaces, giving a total expected increase of 2,592 spaces. 

However, it is expected that increased use of non-car modes will reduce the overall parking demand in the 

future.  Allowing for a 10% reduction in the additional future demand (259 spaces) and 10% reduction in 

existing commuting demand (151 spaces) gives an estimated net increase in demand of 2,182 spaces. 

From the November 2011 parking surveys, the maximum occupancy was higher on Saturday than on 

weekdays, with a total of 3,998 spaces occupied (in the centre and at Park & Ride) representing 87% of the 

available capacity.  By comparison, the maximum weekday occupancy was 3,482 spaces.  If it is 

considered that the figure for Saturday represents the effective capacity of the car parks, there is spare 

capacity of 516 spaces on a weekday (when car parks operate at over 85% of capacity, congestion starts 

to occur due to vehicles searching for a space). 

Since 2011, increased capacity has or will be provided by expansion of the existing Park & Ride sites: 

 

¡ 390 spaces at Lansdown (completed February 2013); 

¡ 230 spaces at Odd Down (completed November 2012); 

¡ 248 spaces at Newbridge (planning permission received November 2013); 

¡ 868 additional spaces in total. 

Page 44



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

16 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

However, as part of the planned redevelopment of sites for the Enterprise Area some city centre parking 

spaces may be displaced.  Their replacement in the city centre will need to be considered within the 

strategy as a whole. 

With the possible reduction in city centre parking capacity, greater use of Park & Ride will need to be made 

and encouraged, particularly for those staying three hours or more.  However, good provision for shorter 

stays should remain in the city centre, whilst aiming to reduce traffic levels in the centre itself.  All car trips 

into the city centre requiring parking could then be directed to the nearest car park on the edge of the 

centre, based on their incoming route: 

 

¡ Southgate for trips from the south and east; 

¡ Podium for trips from the north; and 

¡ Charlotte Street for trips from the west. 

With the above system, the need for traffic to pass through and circulate around the city centre should be 

reduced. 

It may also be desirable to support ‘informal’ Park and Ride where car users can park at peripheral 

locations and use existing bus services to complete their journeys.  This could be developed through 

workplace travel plans to inform people about the options, working with the owners of potential car parks 

such as pubs or supermarkets where spaces may be available during the day and gaining the support of 

bus operators. 

Other parking issues include enforcement of regulations, a necessity to avoid obstruction of streets and to 

ensure that spaces are available to as many users as possible.  Residents’ parking schemes also form part 

of the picture. 

Car park user surveys have been used to provide origin information and also show qualitative aspects of 

the parking offer.  These have covered both central area car parks and Park and Ride and indicate the 

origins of users and their views on the parking offer.  This baseline data can be compared with future 

survey data to assess the impacts of the parking strategy, particularly in terms of user satisfaction. 

Recommendation: Car parking is a central feature of the strategy, enabling other components to 

take effect.  The policy of reducing central area public parking and expanding long stay capacity at 

Park and Ride sites should continue, enabling greater emphasis to be given to walking, cycling and 

bus services in the historic core and on key corridors. 

 

2.1.8 Park and Ride – Providing Long Stay Parking Capacity 

Park and Ride is well-established with three sites in operation for the city.  These are popular as evidenced 

by high levels of use and help to reduce vehicle movements into the city centre.  Relocating long stay 

parking from the centre to park and ride is achievable although there is a revenue implication if Park and 

Ride is priced at a lower level than central area parking and the supply of the latter declines.  A site to the 

east would complete the picture, allowing people to choose not to drive into the centre and thus contribute 

to a better city environment.  Data shows that many trips originate from the east and that some motorists 

choose to use the Park and Ride facilities at Odd Down and Lansdown in the absence of a facility to the 

east.  A designated site will need to be adopted, enabling bus and/or rail links to serve the city centre.  The 

Page 45



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

17 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

three existing park and ride sites may need to be expanded further; work has recently commenced on the 

expansion of the Newbridge facility.  There may be scope to reassess journey patterns, for example taking 

account of the expanded Newbridge provision, orientating some Park and Ride services to the hospital (as 

the Odd Down P&R buses do) or other destination rather than or in addition to the city centre. 

The established Park and Ride sites are well used and often full.  Data shows that most users use the site 

nearest to their approach to the city but that some may divert from Lansdown and Odd Down to a new site 

to the east if available.  Users comprise commuters and visitors/shoppers and collectively account for 

around 1.2 million vehicle trips every year (to and from the city centre). Evidence has been obtained from 

surveys of current Park and Ride users including identification of their journey origins.  Traffic count data 

has been used to assess the effects of Park and Ride on radial routes.  It is suggested that further work is 

needed to identify how the additional demand can be accommodated.  

Recommendation: That further work is required to establish the need for increased  Park and Ride 

capacity as part of a wider parking strategy and to undertake a detailed assessment of sites to the 

East of the City. 

 

2.1.9 Bus Services – Making Better Use of Services 

Bus services in and around the city are numerous and generally of good quality.  The new bus station 

provides a focus for a wide range of services and many buses are accessible to everyone.  Improving bus 

services is about much more than the buses themselves – it is about understanding how, when and why 

people travel and providing buses to meet those needs.  One bus can substitute for many car journeys in 

the city.  Working with bus operators will determine the most appropriate ways to build the market through 

straightforward ticketing, new information provision and services that meet the needs of local people during 

the day and into the evenings. 

The apparently declining core market for buses is a concern which will need to be addressed given that bus 

is the most realistic option for many journeys beyond reasonable walking or cycling distance, or for those 

people who unable or unwilling to walk or cycle.  The Greater Bristol Bus Network is a concerted effort to 

generate growth in bus use through improved services supported by new infrastructure, the principles of 

which could be applied to Bath. 

Page 46



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

18 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

A number of initiatives have aimed to improve the quality of bus services in terms of journey reliability and 

punctuality but problems of unpredictable traffic conditions and high fare levels persist alongside negative 

perceptions of the bus offer which will need to be overcome if demand is to be stimulated.  Measures that 

can help include the widespread availability of real time service information and journey planning tools.  

Funding from the Department for Transport’s Better Bus Areas scheme is enabling the introduction of 

measures to help bus movements in the London Road corridor.  There are also plans to introduce a bus 

lane on the A36 Lower Bristol Road on its approach to Windsor Bridge Junction.  The recent experimental 

changes in Dorchester Street are designed to ensure that buses are not delayed entering and exiting the 

Bus Station.  The widespread adoption of smartcard and other forms of easy payment will help show how 

bus travel can be made more attractive and also provides valuable data for operators about users’ travel 

habits. 

The number of bus users has remained relatively constant in recent years – based on data for the number 

of users – but the number of concessionary users has increased.  This indicates that the number of regular 

fare-paying users has declined, despite the improvements to services and infrastructure introduced through 

the Bath Transport Package. 

 

Specific measures will include: 

 

¡ Bus network improvements including infrastructure e.g. evening services; 

¡ Better multi-media service information (joint initiative between operators, the Council and users); 

¡ Smart ticketing, as being introduced currently and mobile phone ticketing; 

¡ Revised fares structures, especially for inter-urban services; and 

¡ Scope for additional priority measures e.g. at junctions. 

Recommendation: Improved bus services, with ticketing and other improvements and measures to 

improve reliability, will provide alternative travel options to car use, promoted through travel plans 

and comprehensive marketing. 

 

2.1.10 Travel Plans 

Travel plans can contribute to people understanding their travel options and moving towards sustainable 

modes.  Workplace travel plans for major education and workplaces including those in the Enterprise Area 

will need to identify sustainable transport options.  This may include better travel information to widen 

choice, changing the opening times of shops, offices and businesses to help spread peak demand and 

measures to enable the uptake of public transport use. 

Page 47



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

19 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

The impact of travel plans can be demonstrated by lasting changes in travel behaviour, supporting 

sustainable travel choices and reducing peak time car travel. Information has been obtained regarding 

existing travel plans and experience from other parts of the country indicates how travel plan initiatives can 

be successful in reducing car dependency.  For example, the University of Bath’s travel plans show a 

reduction of 7.5% in staff sole occupant car trips in two years. 

Specific measures will include promoting travel plans through a travel forum: 

 

¡ Workplaces; 

¡ Education establishments; 

¡ Healthcare and Royal United Hospital catchment issues; 

¡ Rail stations/neighbourhoods. 

Recommendation: Travel plans should be promoted for all main activities in the city to support a 

move from car use to other means of travel: 

 

¡ Travel plans will be built into the planning process; 

¡ Existing plans will be refreshed for workplaces and education establishments; 

¡ Travel need for healthcare, particularly the Royal United Hospital will be considered; 

¡ Access to rail stations (currently around 100 trains per day serving Oldfield Park and 340 

serving Bath Spa) will be reviewed; and  

¡ Travel plans will be developed working with transport providers: train and bus operators, cycle 

shops, etc. 

 

2.1.11 Taxis 

Taxis are important for people who cannot access buses or who are unfamiliar with the area or require 

specific destinations.    

Recommendation: Maintain the taxi network as part of the wider range of transport options. 

 

 

2.1.12 Rail – New Services and Opportunities 

Options for train travel are expected to widen as changes are made to rail infrastructure and services.  For 

journeys to Bristol, the Wiltshire towns and beyond, rail will be a more attractive option.  Improved access 

to the local stations will become more important.  Consequently existing provision within Bath will need to 

be reviewed to determine if it can meet potential future need and is accessible. 

Given the scope of the rail network, it is possible that improvements outside the area will support more train 

travel such as the creation of new stations in Wiltshire (including Corsham and Royal Wootton Bassett) or 

the Bristol area, enabling people to access rail services more easily.   

Page 48



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

20 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

The timing of changes to the rail network is critical in that electrification of the Great Western Main Line 

from London to Bristol and beyond presents the opportunity for future options to be included, provision for 

which will not be possible subsequently.  Given the high cost of rail infrastructure, plans need to be fully 

justified and robust.  Changes to routes with two trains per hour diverted from Bristol Temple Meads to 

London Paddington via Bristol Parkway and two per hour via Bath Spa opens up new capacity.  In addition, 

the proposed MetroWest network envisages the upgrading of services across a wide area with more 

frequent trains between Bath and the Bristol area. Rail and ride opportunities need to be considered as part 

of this process 

Continued co-operation between local authorities will help maximize the benefits of the substantial changes 

to the rail network.  Improved links with the Bristol area will support the growth of Bath while working with 

Wiltshire Council and train operators will help to improve services between Bath and Bradford on Avon, 

Trowbridge, Warminster, Chippenham and Westbury. 

The number of rail users is at an all-time high according to station surveys and more people can be 

expected to use the local network when wider journey options become available, such as the West of 

England Metro for which some information is available.  Business cases including demand and revenue 

forecasts will be needed to justify proposals on the rail network.  

Specific measures will include: 

 

¡ Improved walk/cycle/bus access to Bath Spa and Oldfield Park, including from the Enterprise Area; 

¡ Service improvements and journey opportunities on electrified main line and MetroWest network; 

¡ Increasing capacity of existing trains e.g. Trowbridge line; 

¡ Further work is required to examine the potential for  new stations  and rail and ride options or 

improvements to existing stations; and 

¡ Station capacity management e.g. event days. 

 

Recommendation: The growth in rail capacity and the range of services available as part of the 

Great Western Main Line electrification scheme and the development of MetroWest will support 

significantly more rail journeys.  Access to local stations will need to be improved and new stations 

may be appropriate.  Better services should be promoted to link Bath with the west Wiltshire towns. 

2.1.13 Coaches – Supporting the Economy 

Visitor coaches are a strong contributor to the economy.  The Roman Baths is a key destination with over 

350,000 visitors arriving by coach each year.  The need to close the Avon Street coach park requires both 

a short term solution and a permanent solution.  This also needs to consider options for loading/unloading 

coaches in the city centre.  Orange Grove has been altered to create a high quality public realm and 

accommodates some bus services including tours hence is no longer available for large numbers of 

coaches 

The Bath Christmas Market attracts visitors in considerable numbers, many of whom arrive by coach; the 

summer season also sees a rise in the number of coaches visiting the city.  Over 80 may arrive in a single 

day and accommodating this number has been difficult.  With the relocation of the coach park, ample space 

needs to be available to accommodate peak demand or other options will need to be considered such as 

the suspension of on-street car parking bays in some locations to enable overflow coach parking at certain 

times. 

Page 49



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

21 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

Many coaches originate in London/South East as shown by survey data and all require access in the city 

within a short distance of the main attractions.  Avon Street coach park has insufficient space for the 

number of coaches arriving and at least five bays are required in the city centre.  Dialogue with visitor 

attractions indicates that coaches are a major component of their success but that an easily accessible 

unloading point in the city centre is essential, which is linked to a more remote coach parking facility where 

coaches will park up after dropping the visitors within a City Centre location. 

Specific measures will include: 

 

¡ Identification of City centre coach set-down/pick-up facilities; 

¡ Identification of replacement coach parking facilities; 

¡ Management of pre-booked arrivals; 

¡ Peak demands for market / festivals / events may need additional capacity. 

Recommendation: That coaches continue to be promoted as an important means of bringing 

visitors to the city.  Further work is needed to identify suitable facilities for coach drop off and pick 

up and replacement coach parking facilities. 

 

2.1.14 Freight Movements – Better Management 

Freight movements are essential to keep the economy moving.  A consolidation centre has been 

established for city centre retailers which has reduced vehicle movements dramatically but more 

businesses could be involved which would enable it to operate without subsidy.  From the initial 

involvement of around 30 businesses, several hundred will be needed to make the scheme a commercial 

proposition.  This could be supported through further dialogue with potential users but also an 

understanding of possible traffic management and enforcement changes such as restrictions on loading 

and unloading, emissions standards or vehicle size/weight limits.  Electric delivery vehicles and cycle 

delivery of parcels could be promoted for the city centre. 

Loading and unloading restrictions are in place but are contentious – businesses cannot always specify 

delivery times or incur additional costs to meet the on-streets constraints.  While many businesses operate 

with specific delivery arrangements, problems can result from smaller delivery vehicles, notably the 

expansion in parcels and courier services and also one-off activities such as builders’ vehicles which can 

cause obstructions.  These are difficult to manage but a permit scheme limiting access to pre-defined times 

and locations may be desirable if the problem becomes widespread. 

Page 50



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

22 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

Food and other retail deliveries are becoming more popular as internet access increases.  This has 

generated delivery van activity but not necessarily a reduction in visits to shops as people view potential 

purchases before the transaction is made from home, particularly for one-off purchases.  However, the 

timing of retail visits may be changing as internet shopping becomes more widespread. 

Although overall the number of heavy vehicles is small, their impact can be considerable so enabling the 

use of smaller vehicles has significant benefits.  Evidence has been sought from city centre management, 

representing retail activities in particular.  However, large vehicles such as those on London Road do not 

wish to negotiate the city’s streets unless they have a particular need to be there. 

 

Specific measures will include: 

 

¡ More cycle deliveries; 

¡ Consolidation centre used for more businesses; 

¡ Possible out-of-hours deliveries; 

¡ P&R retail collection points; 

¡ Working partnership with businesses and operators;  

¡ Press the Highways Agency to take measures to remove heavy lorries from the city and 

¡ Restricted unloading hours with enforcement (experimental schemes). 

 

Recommendation: That freight movements be considered more fully, working with businesses and 

operators, particularly to promote consolidation of deliveries and to better manage loading and 

unloading arrangements. 

 

Page 51



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

23 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

3.1 Community Engagement 

The strategy will be successful only if local people are engaged in its development.  This emerging strategy 

has involved dialogue with a number of interests but a much wider engagement programme will ensure that 

people understand and support the proposed strategy.  This process needs to involve a wide range of 

stakeholders from transport operators and users, the business community, local residents and interest 

groups.  Local employers will need to be involved as well as those already engaged as development takes 

place and the economy grows. 

The consultation and engagement process will be aligned with the Placemaking Plan that will set out the 

location and type of developments that are planned for the city. 

Neighbouring local authorities will need to be involved, particularly the Greater Bristol authorities and 

Wiltshire Council, for initiatives involving road traffic and rail options. 

The initial phase is to gauge reaction to the principles contained within the strategy prior to putting forward 

detailed proposals that will result in their implementation. 

3.2 Priorities and Programme 

The strategy is intended to generate significant changes in travel behaviour and mode share.  It also needs 

to be deliverable.  Generating major benefits for the economy, community and environment is achievable in 

the spirit of the vision and offers the potential to make Bath an exemplar city for sustainable transport. 

Walking is a major component of the strategy with widespread benefits and requires an extensive 

programme of works including signing, lighting, footpath and footway improvements, better lighting and 

improved crossings.  Parking and traffic management measures will require a phased approach while 

development sites may take many years to complete. 

Ideally all proposed measures should be progressed together.  However, some proposals are easier to 

deliver than others and will involve more procedures such as Traffic Regulation Orders or planning 

consent.  Some proposals may have long lead times which require extensive planning.  However, some 

have been given a high rating for priority, reflecting their extent of their expected benefits.  Detailed 

costings are unavailable at this stage but some schemes will have wide coverage even if the component 

schemes are relatively small; for example, a programme of walking route improvements may involve a 

large number of small schemes throughout the city. 

3.3 Monitoring and Key Performance Indicators 

A comprehensive set of base data will need to be collected prior to any measures being put in place in 

order to allow detailed before and after studies to be undertaken.  The impacts of the strategy will need to 

be measured on a regular basis and assessed for their contribution towards the objectives.  A 

comprehensive series of data will need to be collected on a regular basis that will indicate changes over 

time, although more specific assessments may be needed in response to particular measures. 

3. Delivering the Strategy 

Page 52



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

24 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

Specific KPIs will include: 

 

¡ Number of vehicles/delays/traffic growth; 

¡ User satisfaction; 

¡ Air quality; 

¡ Modal share: shift to walk/cycle/bus/train/car share; 

¡ Parking demand and distribution; 

¡ Accessibility indices; and 

¡ Successful delivery of development sites. 

 

A Delivery Plan will be produced with a five year profile against which continuous improvement can be 

demonstrated.  This will be subject to annual review and the complementarity of measures will also be 

considered. 

 

3.4 Outcomes 

Delivering this strategy will address the defined objectives through improved travel choice to reduce the 

number of car journeys, hence reducing the impact of traffic and improving air quality.  The local economy 

will be enhanced through easier access on foot and cycle and to improve the visitor experience.  Quality of 

life will be improved with a more attractive city, supporting a culture of sustainable travel enabled by a 

comprehensive programme of community engagement.  This will enable investment and development to 

take place, building on sustainable travel throughout the city.   

All the measures outlined above need to be delivered in combination to address the strategy objectives – 

there are no individual or simple solutions. 

If delivered effectively, it will achieve the following: 

 

¡ Improved travel choices; 

¡ More business opportunities and higher productivity; 

¡ Fewer car journeys, healthier lifestyles; 

¡ Reduced carbon emissions, addressing climate change; 

¡ Better air quality, improved safety and health; 

¡ Sustainable development and delivery of Core Strategy – Placemaking Plan; and 

¡ Improved experience for residents and visitors 

The implementation of the measures proposed will influence Bath in a positive way over a number of years 

– changing the culture of the city to be a leading proponent of walking and sustainable transport is a shift 

requiring behavioural change.  However, the effects could be transformational with a new emphasis on the 

historic fabric and layout of the city, enabled by a strong walking tradition supported more cycling and 

better use of trains and buses.  The city pre-dates cars but vehicles have gradually come to dominate the 

streets to the detriment of the environment and the economy.  Bath should be Europe’s prime example of a 

sustainable transport culture. 

 

Page 53



 

329578/ITD/ITQ/01/E 

25 
 

Getting Around Bath 
  

3.5 Targets 

Setting targets requires confidence that the measures planned will be delivered and that they are realistic 

ambitions.  Given the apparent mode share currently, it is reasonable to assume that the mode share of 

walking can be increased from the 2001 recorded level of 35% for people living and working in the city to at 

least 40% by the target date.  This will require a commensurate reduction in car driver trips to less than 

30% of the total compared with the current 39%.  Similarly, the proportion of rail users can be expected to 

increase along with cycling trips. 

3.6 Next Steps 

To be successful, the strategy will need to be the subject of a public engagement programme so that as 

many people as possible feel they have a stake in the outcomes.  The emerging principles for the 

Enterprise Area will need to be formed around sustainable transport to ensure that it can be 

accommodated in an integrated way appropriate to its context in the city.  Other sites included in the Core 

Strategy will also need to be considered with transport as a central consideration. 

For the measures adopted in the strategy, refinement will be necessary both to define the technical 

requirements and to programme the necessary processes and approvals. 

Page 54



     

P
L
A

N
N

IN
G

, 
T

R
A

N
S

P
O

R
T

 A
N

D
 E

N
V

IR
O

N
M

E
N

T
 P

D
S

 F
O

R
W

A
R

D
 

P
L
A

N
 

 
T
h
is
 F
o
rw

a
rd
 P
la
n
 l
is
ts
 a
ll 
th
e
 i
te
m
s
 c
o
m
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 P
a
n
e
l 
o
v
e
r 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 
fe
w
 m

o
n
th
s
. 

In
e
v
it
a
b
ly
, 
s
o
m
e
 
o
f 
th
e
 
p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 
m
a
y
 
c
h
a
n
g
e
; 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 
re
c
o
g
n
is
e
s
 
th
a
t 
th
e
 
p
la
n
 
is
 
a
 
b
e
s
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 a
t 
th
e
 t
im

e
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
, 
o
f 
a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
in
g
. 
 T
h
e
 o
n
lin
e
 F
o
rw

a
rd
 P

la
n
 i
s
 u
p
d
a
te
d
 r
e
g
u
la
rl
y
 a
n
d
 

c
a
n
 b
e
 s
e
e
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 w
e
b
s
it
e
 a
t:
 

h
tt
p
:/
/d
e
m
o
c
ra
c
y
.b
a
th
n
e
s
.g
o
v
.u
k
/m

g
P
la
n
s
H
o
m
e
.a
s
p
x
?
b
c
r=
1
 

T
h
e
 F
o
rw

a
rd
 P
la
n
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
s
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’
s
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 o
p
e
n
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
in
g
. 
 I
t 
a
s
s
is
ts
 t
h
e
 

P
a
n
e
l 
in
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 i
n
p
u
t 
to
 p
o
lic
y
 f
o
rm

u
la
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 a
n
d
 i
n
 r
e
v
ie
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
 o
f 
th
e
 C
a
b
in
e
t.
 

S
h
o
u
ld
 y
o
u
 w
is
h
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
, 
p
le
a
s
e
 c
o
n
ta
c
t 
th
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 a
u
th
o
r 
o
r 
M
a
rk
 D
u
rn
fo
rd
, 
D
e
m
o
c
ra
ti
c
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 (
0
1
2
2
5
 

3
9
4
4
5
8
).
  
A
 f
o
rm

a
l 
a
g
e
n
d
a
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 5
 c
le
a
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s
 b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 
  

A
g
e
n
d
a
 p
a
p
e
rs
 c
a
n
 b
e
 i
n
s
p
e
c
te
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 w
e
b
s
it
e
 a
n
d
 a
t 
th
e
 G
u
ild
h
a
ll 
(B
a
th
),
 H
o
lli
e
s
 (
M
id
s
o
m
e
r 
N
o
rt
o
n
),
 R
iv
e
rs
id
e
 

(K
e
y
n
s
h
a
m
) 
a
n
d
 a
t 
B
a
th
 C
e
n
tr
a
l,
 K
e
y
n
s
h
a
m
 a
n
d
 M
id
s
o
m
e
r 
N
o
rt
o
n
 p
u
b
lic
 l
ib
ra
ri
e
s

.
 

Agenda Item 11

Page 55



 

1
 

P
la

n
n

in
g

, 
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t 
P

D
S

 
F

o
rw

a
rd

 P
la

n
 

 

B
a

th
 &

 N
o

r
th

 E
a

s
t 

S
o

m
e

r
s

e
t 

C
o

u
n

c
il

 
A
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 a
t 
fu
tu
re
 P
a
n
e
l 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

R
e
f 

D
a
te
 

D
e
c
is
io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r/
s
 

T
it
le
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 A
u
th
o
r 

C
o
n
ta
c
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 

L
e
a
d
 

P
L
A
N
N
IN
G
, 
T
R
A
N
S
P
O
R
T
 A
N
D
 E
N
V
IR
O
N
M
E
N
T
 P
O
L
IC
Y
 D
E
V
E
L
O
P
M
E
N
T
 &
 S
C
R
U
T
IN
Y
 P
A
N
E
L
 -
 1
9
T
H
 M
A
Y
 2
0
1
4
 

1
9
 M
a
y
 2
0
1
4
 

   

P
T
E
 P
D
S
 

 
F
ir
s
t 
B
u
s
 P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 r
e
: 
F
a
re
s
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

   
L
o
u
is
e
 F
ra
d
d
 

1
4
 M
a
y
 2
0
1
4
 

 
1
9
 M
a
y
 2
0
1
4
 

 
E
2
6
5
0
 

 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
P
T
E
 P
D
S
 

 
G
e
tt
in
g
 A
ro
u
n
d
 B
a
th
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

 
P
e
te
r 
D
a
w
s
o
n
 

T
e
l:
 0
1
2
2
5
 3
9
5
1
8
1
 

L
o
u
is
e
 F
ra
d
d
 

P
L
A
N
N
IN
G
, 
T
R
A
N
S
P
O
R
T
 A
N
D
 E
N
V
IR
O
N
M
E
N
T
 P
O
L
IC
Y
 D
E
V
E
L
O
P
M
E
N
T
 &
 S
C
R
U
T
IN
Y
 P
A
N
E
L
 -
 8
T
H
 J
U
L
Y
 2
0
1
4
 

8
 J
u
l 
2
0
1
4
 

   

P
T
E
 P
D
S
 

 
C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 U
p
d
a
te
 

 
S
im
o
n
 D
e
 B
e
e
r 

T
e
l:
 0
1
2
2
5
 4
7
7
6
1
6
 

L
o
u
is
e
 F
ra
d
d
 

1
1
 J
u
n
 2
0
1
4
 

 
8
 J
u
l 
2
0
1
4
 

 
E
2
6
3
8
 

 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
P
T
E
 P
D
S
 

 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 I
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 L
e
v
y
 D
ra
ft
 C
h
a
rg
in
g
 S
c
h
e
d
u
le
 

 
S
im
o
n
 D
e
 B
e
e
r,
 

K
a
o
ru
 J
a
c
q
u
e
s
 

T
e
l:
 0
1
2
2
5
 4
7
7
6
1
6
, 

T
e
l:
 0
1
2
2
5
 4
7
7
2
8
8
 

L
o
u
is
e
 F
ra
d
d
 

8
 J
u
l 
2
0
1
4
 

   

P
T
E
 P
D
S
 

 
E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 A
re
a
 M
a
s
te
r 
P
la
n
 

 
J
o
h
n
 W
ilk
in
s
o
n
 

T
e
l:
 0
1
2
2
5
 3
9
6
5
9
3
 

L
o
u
is
e
 F
ra
d
d
 

Page 56



  

2
 

R
e
f 

D
a
te
 

D
e
c
is
io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r/
s
 

T
it
le
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 A
u
th
o
r 

C
o
n
ta
c
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 

L
e
a
d
 

8
 J
u
l 
2
0
1
4
 

 
1
3
 N
o
v
 2
0
1
4
 

   

P
T
E
 P
D
S
 

 
C
o
u
n
c
il
 

 
C
o
u
n
c
il
's
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
P
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 (
L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 P
o
li
c
y
) 

 
C
a
th
ry
n
 H
u
m
p
h
ri
e
s
 

T
e
l:
 0
1
2
2
5
 4
7
7
6
4
5
 

L
o
u
is
e
 F
ra
d
d
 

8
 J
u
l 
2
0
1
4
 

 
1
2
 N
o
v
 2
0
1
4
 

 
E
2
5
9
8
 

 

P
T
E
 P
D
S
 

 
C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
's
 S
tr
e
e
t 
T
ra
d
in
g
 P
o
li
c
y
 a
n
d
 

C
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 

 
A
la
n
 B
a
rt
le
tt
, 

A
n
d
re
w
 J
o
n
e
s
 

T
e
l:
 0
1
2
2
5
 4
7
7
5
3
6
, 

T
e
l:
 0
1
2
2
5
 4
7
7
5
5
7
 

L
o
u
is
e
 F
ra
d
d
 

P
L
A
N
N
IN
G
, 
T
R
A
N
S
P
O
R
T
 A
N
D
 E
N
V
IR
O
N
M
E
N
T
 P
O
L
IC
Y
 D
E
V
E
L
O
P
M
E
N
T
 &
 S
C
R
U
T
IN
Y
 P
A
N
E
L
 -
 1
6
T
H
 S
E
P
T
E
M
B
E
R
 2
0
1
4
 

1
6
 S
e
p
 2
0
1
4
 

   

P
T
E
 P
D
S
 

 
B
a
th
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 -
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 F
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

 
D
a
v
id
 T
ri
g
w
e
ll 

T
e
l:
 0
1
2
2
5
 3
9
4
1
2
5
 

L
o
u
is
e
 F
ra
d
d
 

1
0
 A
p
r 
2
0
1
3
 

 
1
6
 S
e
p
 2
0
1
4
 

 
E
2
4
3
9
 

 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
P
T
E
 P
D
S
 

 
B
u
s
 P
ri
o
ri
ty
 M
e
a
s
u
re
s
 i
n
 D
o
rc
h
e
s
te
r 
S
t,
 M
a
n
v
e
rs
 S
t 
a
n
d
 

P
ie
rr
e
p
o
in
t 
S
t.
, 
B
a
th
 

 
A
d
ri
a
n
 C
la
rk
e
 

T
e
l:
 0
1
2
2
5
 3
9
5
2
2
3
 

L
o
u
is
e
 F
ra
d
d
 

P
L
A
N
N
IN
G
, 
T
R
A
N
S
P
O
R
T
 A
N
D
 E
N
V
IR
O
N
M
E
N
T
 P
O
L
IC
Y
 D
E
V
E
L
O
P
M
E
N
T
 &
 S
C
R
U
T
IN
Y
 P
A
N
E
L
 -
 4
T
H
 N
O
V
E
M
B
E
R
 2
0
1
4
 

F
U
T
U
R
E
 I
T
E
M
S
 

    

P
T
E
 P
D
S
 

 
K
e
y
n
s
h
a
m
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

   
L
o
u
is
e
 F
ra
d
d
 

 

T
h
e
 F
o
rw
a
rd
 P
la
n
 i
s
 a
d
m
in
is
te
re
d
 b
y
 D
E
M
O
C
R
A
T
IC
 S
E
R
V
IC
E
S
: 
 M
a
rk
 D
u
rn
fo
rd
 0
1
2
2
5
 3
9
4
4
5
8
  
D
e
m
o
c
ra
ti
c
_
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
@
b
a
th
n
e
s
.g
o
v
.u
k
 

Page 57



Page 58

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 MINUTES - 4th March 2014
	10 Getting Around Bath Transport Strategy
	Appendix1
	Appendix2

	11 Panel Workplan

